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CH A P T E R  FO U R 

ANALYSIS AND EVALUATION 

INTRODUCTION 

This chapter is comprised of a comparative analysis of historic and existing landscape 
conditions. The narrative that follows compares the existing cultural landscape associated with 
the Washington Monument Grounds to the landscapes that surrounded the monument during 
earlier periods of its history, particularly the site’s National Register period of significance, ca. 
1791-1943. The years spanning the period of the monument’s construction and the development 
of the grounds as a public park (1848-1889) and the period during which the monument and 
grounds became the central feature in a cross-axial plan connecting the monument with the 
White House to the north, the Capitol to the east, the Jefferson Memorial to the south, and the 
Lincoln Memorial to the west (1889-1943) are the primary focus of the comparative analysis. 

This analysis looks at the trends and events associated with each of these sub-periods and 
compares the character of the landscape to the present. The analysis also considers how use of 
the landscape has evolved over time. Even before its completion, the monument became a 
symbol of American values and ideals, and it soon thereafter began to serve as a backdrop for 
national events, from mourning the death of Abraham Lincoln to celebrating the 4th of July. In 
more recent years, the monument grounds, Lincoln Memorial, and National Mall have served as 
gathering places for expressing support for social causes. The analysis suggests how and why the 
monument has taken on this role. 

Many significant elements of the monument’s past cultural landscape survive in the present. The 
monument remains as beautiful and commanding a presence as when first constructed. It nearly 
occupies the spot envisioned by Pierre L’Enfant in 1791 for a monument honoring the nation’s 
first president and remains the classical obelisk first imagined by Robert Mills in the 1830s and 
perfected by George P. Marsh and Lt. Col. Thomas Casey in the 1880s. The grounds continue to 
feature a formal, tree-lined border with breaks to allow visual connections to the important 
buildings and monuments that terminate the cross-axial design reinforced by the McMillan Plan 
in the early 20th century. The most prominent feature of this landscape is the grass-covered knoll 
beneath the monument. Roadways once encircled the mound, and cars were able to approach the 
base of the monument as late as 1960. The knoll has otherwise remained open and accessible 
(comparative photographs: figures 4-9a and 4-9b, 4-15a and 4-15b). The low grass turf that 
characterizes the majority of the site dramatically sets off the masonry obelisk, and the 
associated open ground continues to accommodate gatherings of thousands of visitors. A 1910 
law ensures the monument will always be the tallest structure in the District, and it dominates the 
city’s skyline and anchors the National Mall area. It hosts visitors from all over the world, while 
throngs of local and regional residents enjoy the grounds on weekends and sunny afternoons. 
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The Washington Monument Grounds is a commemorative feature honoring George Washington, 
an icon of the District of Columbia and a symbol of democracy. 

LANDSCAPE ANALYSIS METHODOLOGY 

To better understand the relationship between the Washington Monument Grounds project area 
as it appears today and its character during the period of significance, this chapter includes a 
comparative analysis of historic and existing conditions. The purpose of this analysis is to 
identify and assess to what degree significant historic features and systems survive today, 
indicate what is known about the origin of extant resources, and identify known missing features. 
Lists of features contributing to the period of significance, as well as non-contributing and 
undetermined features, follow each section. The three primary goals in preparing this 
comparative analysis are: 

1) to understand which features, if any, contribute to the period of significance; 

2) to establish the basis for an integrity evaluation that assesses the degree to which the 
extant landscape resembles the landscape during the period of significance; and 

3) to provide an understanding of the similarities and differences between historic and 
existing conditions that might support future treatment recommendations for the cultural 
landscape. 

The analysis is organized according to the landscape characteristics used in Chapter Three to 
present existing conditions documentation information: 

• natural systems; 
• spatial organization; 
• land use; 
• topography; 
• circulation; 
• vegetation;  
• buildings and structures; 
• constructed water features; 
• small-scale features; and 
• views and vistas. 

CONTRIBUTING AND NON-CONTRIBUTING RESOURCES 

One of the byproducts of the comparative analysis is an inventory of resources that survive from 
the period of significance. These are referred to as contributing features. Resources that 
originated after the period of significance are identified as non-contributing. Features known to 
have existed during previous periods of the park’s history, but are no longer extant, are listed as 
missing resources. A table at the end of each landscape characteristic section provides a listing of 
the contributing and non-contributing resources associated with each of the landscape 
characteristics inventoried on the Washington Monument Grounds in Chapter Three. 
Contributing features are illustrated on a map at the end of this chapter (map 4-1).  
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COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS OF HISTORIC AND EXISTING LANDSCAPE 
CHARACTERISTICS 

NATURAL SYSTEMS  

Waterways originally bordered the monument grounds to the west and south. The monument was 
initially constructed on a small knoll edged on three sides by waterways and tidal wetlands. This 
early arrangement is depicted on the 1851 Keily survey map (figure 2-3). Tiber Creek, which 
emptied into the Potomac, ran diagonally along the northwestern corner of the grounds; a natural 
tidal wetland associated with the Potomac River—the Potomac Flats—ran along the south side.  

A lake and two ponds, discussed in more detail in the below section, “Constructed Water 
Features,” were created on the monument grounds as flood control measures in the 1870s. 
Natural springs and the Potomac River fed these water bodies that occupied the northwestern 
corner of the grounds by 1873. These were later filled. The Potomac Flats were also filled during 
the 19th century, resulting in a larger area of parkland. The existing landscape continues to reflect 
these efforts today. The existing graded, manicured landscape has evolved dramatically from that 
associated with monument during its early phase of construction. The site today contains little 
evidence of the natural systems and features that existed prior to the 20th century. The current 
landform was completed by 1943 and constitutes a contributing resource (see “Topography” 
section below for more information). 

The Mound 

The high point used to site the monument in 1848 was not located precisely along the proposed 
axis of the monumental core between the Capitol and White House, or in the exact location 
L’Enfant envisioned for a statue honoring the first president. Robert Mills, the engineer who 
designed the original obelisk, did not believe the marshy ground that occupied the desired 
position would support the monument’s weight, and chose instead an elevated spot 370 feet to 
the east and 123 feet south. This knoll has also been augmented over time as part of the 
development of the monument grounds. In 1880, a steep earthen embankment—thirty feet wide 
and seventeen feet above the grade of the surrounding landscape—was added to the site. By 
1889, the embankment was expanded to an area 175 feet by 220 feet wide, and extensive 
amounts of fill had been added to the site to help stabilize the monument.  

Tiber Creek and the Potomac River 

The alignments and shorelines of Tiber Creek and the Potomac River have shifted and changed 
in many ways since 1791 due to both natural forces, such as flooding, and human intervention, 
such as cutting and filling. Between the 1790s and 1815, Tiber Creek was straightened and 
channeled into the Washington Canal and its mouth at the Potomac River manipulated to form a 
basin connecting the C&O and Washington Canals. In the 1860s and 1870s, the District of 
Columbia, particularly the lowlands including the monument grounds, were plagued by problems 
caused by the rising and falling of the Potomac River and the siltation of its floodplain (figure 2-
8). Eventually the canal was culverted and the area regraded for flood control. Continued 
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flooding problems led to the filling of the flats by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers between 
1882 and 1897, which changed the shoreline to the form that it possesses today. 

In the 1870s, water from the Potomac was diverted into a lake and two ponds constructed in the 
northwestern quadrant of the grounds. In addition to their role as a flood control measure, these 
ponds were used to raise fish (figures 2-9, 2-34). Water entered Babcock Lake, the largest of 
these water bodies, through an 800-foot-long, 4-inch-diameter pipe that ran from 14th Street to 
“nearly opposite” the monument; another pipe fed a fountain in the middle of the lake.1 This lake 
was filled with earth in 1887 due to fears that it was destabilizing the monument’s foundations. 
The other two ponds were filled in in 1910. Not surprisingly, poor drainage characterizes 
portions of the Washington Monument site north and west of the monument today, the only 
indication of the former presence of these water bodies. Drains and an underground stormwater 
system currently control surface site drainage. Heavy usage associated with public gatherings 
and informal recreation still causes a good deal of erosion within the site due to the tendency of 
the soils to become saturated (figure 3-1).  

The Potomac Flats 

The area that became known as the Potomac Flats was created by siltation of the floodplain 
along the shoreline of the Potomac River. Dredging of the Potomac, proposed as early as 1833, 
was not conducted until 1881 after a winter ice dam formed on the river, causing severe flooding 
in the city.2 The dredge material was used to fill the tidal flats west and south of the monument 
grounds, eventually forming East and West Potomac Parks, with the Tidal Basin located between 
the two (figure 2-39).  

SPATIAL ORGANIZATION 

The 555-foot-tall obelisk has always provided the central focus for the spatial organization of the 
monument grounds. Since initial construction began in 1848, the obelisk has occupied the central 
graded knoll that covers its tiered foundation. The mound, which has been augmented over time, 
remains one of the primary features of the landscape. Street trees along the boundaries have 
provided a sense of enclosure around the grounds’ open sweep of lawn. At the same time, the 
emphasis on axial relationships to structures beyond the grounds introduced by the McMillan 
Plan in the early 20th century made visual connections part of the spatial organization. The 
elevated position of the monument as the center point of the cross-axis, and its visibility, 
accentuated by its setting and dramatic beauty, contributed to the success of the McMillan Plan 
during the early 20th century and continues to render the Washington Monument one of the most 
important symbolic structures in the American cultural landscape. In the words of Carol B. 
Thompson, State Historic Preservation Officer for the District of Columbia in 1986, “The 
Washington Monument is of transcendent importance in American history and culture. The 
monument grounds are an integral visual part of the monument. The powerful monolith is 
brilliantly set off by an expansive, unobstructed grassy knoll which complements the scale of the 
monument, its location on the National Mall, and the symbolism of the monument as a national 
meeting ground.”3  
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All the patterns of spatial organization described in the existing conditions chapter of the CLR, 
including the monument plaza, the mound, the flats, the sylvan areas, and the axes, survive from 
the period of significance and contribute to the significant historic character of the project area. 
The elements that comprise these areas are described individually below. 

The Plaza 

When the Washington Monument Grounds opened to the public in 1889, the monument and 
knoll and its circular paved plaza, defined the center of the site. The plaza has undergone various 
changes in material, dimensions, and accessibility. The existence of a paved plaza at the base of 
the monument dates to 1887. At that time, the plaza was a ten-foot-wide apron of stone at the 
base of the monument. In 1888-89, the plaza was extended to cover a circular area, with a 
seventy-foot radius. The plaza sat approximately 17 feet above the base of the mound below. The 
plaza included a roadway component that encircled the plaza and remained in use until 1961. 
The plaza today restricts vehicles, and is 120 feet in diameter. Flags have been placed around the 
plaza at the base of the Washington Monument since the 1920s. The earliest examples were 
raised temporarily for special events. The existing permanent flagpole arrangement was not 
established until 1957 (figure 2-75). The flagpoles reinforce the sense of space associated with 
the central plaza around the monument. The sense of center associated with the plaza is 
accentuated by the many walks leading to the plaza from all directions (comparative 
photographs: figures 4-20a and 4-20b).  

The Mound  

The mound that extends around the plaza on all sides is oval in shape. It extends over a high 
point of ground that existed prior to construction of the Washington Monument that has been 
accentuated over time through the use of fill. It provides the monument with a dramatic base, and 
is also part of the engineering solution for stabilizing the foundations of the obelisk. In 1854, 
when construction work on the Washington Monument was ceased temporarily, the monument 
stood on a small steeply-sided knoll. By 1885 when the monument was dedicated, it had a broad 
terrace as a base, set atop a 17-foot mound. The mound was expanded to 175 feet at the apex by 
220 feet at the base in 1881, and again in 1889 to stabilize the monument’s massive foundation, 
when it acquired its current configuration. The mound has been incorporated into site circulation 
since the monument grounds were improved in ca. 1888-89. At that time, the monument’s sense 
of center was enhanced by a system of curvilinear carriageways that swept gracefully around the 
mound’s base (figures 2-28 and 2-38). The mound today provides a vantage point for visitors to 
see the connections between the monument grounds and the Capitol, White House, Lincoln 
Memorial, and Jefferson Memorial and serves as an appropriately-scaled base for views of the 
monument (figures 3-3, 3-65, 3-66, 3-68, 3-69, and 3-70). 

The Flats 

Relatively level terrain edges the mound to the north and west. This terrain has generally been 
formed by fill. Until the late 19th century, marshland, stream corridors, and tidal creeks rendered 
much of the western portion of the monument grounds unoccupiable. In the 1870s the grounds 
were graded and fill was added to various areas of the grounds. Additional grading was 
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undertaken in the northern portion of the grounds in the 1890s. In the 1930s, the grounds west of 
the monument were leveled. Today, these manipulations of the ground appear natural: the gently 
sloping, level, grassy grade of the site is relatively uniform, stretching from the knoll out to the 
tree-lined boundary streets (comparative photographs: figures 4-12a and 4-12b). This is the 
open ground that has served as popular recreational and public gathering space for many years. 

Sylvan Areas  

Closely spaced trees edged the perimeter roadways and are placed in groves in various locations 
around the edges of the monument grounds. Plantings are associated with the Monument and 
Survey Lodges, which are sited within the bands of sylvan groves, reinforcing a pattern of 
woodland edging that frames the open areas of the flats within. Tree-lined perimeter streets 
frame the Washington Monument Grounds on all four sides. These perimeter streets and avenues 
form the boundaries of the project area. These roads were established during the period of 
significance, as were various street tree plantings. Some of the groves that currently exist on the 
site appear to survive from the period of significance. Others, such as the cherry tree groves, 
appear to post-date the period of significance and do not contribute to the historic significance of 
the monument grounds. 

Axes 

Since the implementation of the McMillan Plan, the monument grounds have been viewed as the 
center point of a cross-axial plan that extends east to the Capitol, north to the White House, west 
to the Lincoln Memorial, and south to the Jefferson Memorial. Despite heavily trafficked 
external circulation corridors that form the boundaries of the monument area, the grounds are 
also perceived as the central node of the larger monumental core of the nation’s capital. 

The Washington Monument was originally designed to terminate the Mall area’s western 
margin, balancing the U.S. Capitol at its eastern terminus. Linear visual connections were also 
made or maintained early on to the White House to the north. In 1922, the Lincoln Memorial was 
completed in its site along the U.S. Capitol axis, while the Jefferson Memorial completed the 
axis to the south in 1943 (figures 3-62, 3-63, 3-64 and 3-67).  

The internal boundaries of the Mall are porous enough to allow visual and physical continuity 
across its length. The central position of the Washington Monument within this cross-axis 
contributes to its importance as an American symbol of democracy.  

LAND USE AND ACTIVITIES 

From its earliest conception to the present, the Washington Monument Grounds has been first 
and foremost a commemorative site. The association of the grounds with the nation’s first 
president has made it a destination for visitors, and the open landscape around the base of the 
monument accommodates large crowds on many occasions. Although the site has served 
different purposes—from cattle grazing to public swimming—at various points in its history, its 
original commemorative and public open space functions survive from the 19th century. Other 
contributing land uses include public gathering and visitor services. 
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Commemorative Land Uses 

Since 1791, the design intent for the Washington Monument Grounds has been to establish a 
monument to honor the first president of the United States. The Washington National Monument 
Society was formed in 1833 to oversee the creation of an appropriate memorial to George 
Washington. Although not completed until 1884, the monument quickly captured national 
attention and has been a popular commemorative icon ever since.  

The Washington Monument Grounds have also long served as a place for commemorative events 
and activities. For example when Abraham Lincoln died, a ceremony was held on the site, and 
when Charles Lindbergh returned from the first trans-Atlantic flight in 1927, thousands gathered 
on the grounds to rejoice (figures 2-44 and 2-45). Independence Day began to be celebrated on 
the grounds before the monument’s completion, and it continues to be celebrated annually on the 
grounds and the adjacent Mall today (figure 2-69). 

Recreational Land Uses  

Throughout the late 19th and 20th centuries, the Washington Monument Grounds have been 
heavily used for public recreation. Although none of the specific recreational structures 
established during the period of significance survive, the grounds themselves continue to support 
formal and informal sports and recreational activities.  

Recreation first became a part of the land use associated with the Washington Monument 
Grounds in 1872 when tree-lined, curving gravel roads were established through the grounds, 
and visitors began to enjoy leisurely carriage drives. Active recreation became a part of the site 
in the early 20th century. One of the earliest recreation features on the grounds was established 
when the existing fish ponds were converted for public swimming in 1907. Between 1907 and 
1942, a variety of recreational facilities existed in the northwestern part of the grounds. These 
included swimming pools; a boat house and bath houses; tennis and basketball courts; baseball, 
softball, football, and soccer fields; an archery range; and even a small golf course (figures 2-42, 
2-64; figure 4-7; and comparative photographs: figures 4-11a and 4-11b). These features were 
built largely on the land reclaimed from ponds constructed for flood control. These facilities 
were mostly removed in 1936. Recreational activities were subsequently relocated to the more 
expansive East and West Potomac Parks nearby. Although none of these constructed recreational 
features survive today, the grounds continue to host formal team sports such as kickball and 
softball, and informal sports such as frisbee, as well as jogging, dog-walking, kite-flying, and 
other activities that utilize the expansive lawns and park setting of the grounds (figure 2-83). 
Recreational uses continue to account for much of the site’s visitation.  

Other recreational uses included the use of the obelisk to screen movies and presentations of 
plays and music events at the Sylvan Theatre. Movies were first shown at the monument in 1916; 
public film screenings were recently reintroduced on the grounds with the “Screen on the Green” 
Monday night vintage movie series on the grounds. The Sylvan Theatre was opened on the 
grounds in 1917 (figure 2-43). It continues to be used today. Finally, large, organized assemblies 
have also taken place on the grounds: for instance, the Boy Scouts of America held their annual 
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jamboree there in 1937 (figure 4-1). Temporary facilities have regularly been set up on the 
grounds to accommodate such activities. 

Public Gathering Land Uses 

The Washington Monument Grounds have long served as a focal point for public gathering; this 
use continues today and contributes to the historic significance of the site. By the 1920s, groups 
had begun holding rallies and events on the grounds as well as throughout the monumental core. 
In the 1960s, rallies held on the Mall included such notable events as the 1963 civil rights march 
in which Martin Luther King delivered his “I Have a Dream” speech in front of the Lincoln 
Memorial (figure 2-77). The 1970s witnessed an era of protest. In 1973, a massive anti-Vietnam 
War march was held in the District, including on the Washington Monument Grounds. Since the 
1970s, the causes championed on the Mall area have continued to expand. In 1995, the National 
Mall area was the backdrop for the Million Man March. The grounds have also been used by 
demonstrators and continue to serve this purpose, including recent demonstrations protesting a 
possible war in Iraq in March 2003. 

Visitor Services Land Uses 

Visitor services have been associated with the monument grounds since the late 19th century. 
This use has continued to the present and contributes to the historic significance of the property. 
By 1855, the grounds included a reception room. In 1888-89 a new building—the Monument 
Lodge—was added for the comfort of the visiting public. Many other resources and facilities that 
support the comfort and edification of visitors post-date the period of significance. These include 
public rest rooms, drinking fountains, concessions for food, books, and souvenirs, and security.  

Missing Land Uses 

From time to time, military uses have temporarily occupied the Washington Monument Grounds 
and other portions of the Mall area. During the Civil War, buildings including stables, quarters, a 
mess for officers and men, and a civilian bunkhouse were erected on the grounds. In 1887, a 
National Drill encampment took place on the site (figure 2-25). During World War I, temporary 
government buildings supporting the war effort were constructed nearby along the north side of 
the Reflecting Pool. Similar structures were built on the monument grounds during World War II 
(figures 2-57, 2-60, 2-68, and 2-72). These features have since been removed, but photographs 
and plans from the period suggest that the buildings covered the entire western portion of the site 
between 16th and 17th Streets. While the monument grounds no longer support official military 
use, U.S. Marines were observed exercising on the grounds during March 2003 field 
investigations.  

Another missing land use is agriculture, which occurred primarily during the 19th century. 
Grasses on the monument grounds are known to have been cut over for hay to feed livestock. A 
feed house and stable erected in 1855 may have housed government horses. During the Civil 
War, a herd of cattle was kept on the site (figure 2-7), and sheep were grazed there during World 
War I. Ponds created on the grounds were used between the 1870s and 1907 by the U.S. 
Commission of Fish and Fisheries to raise fish; related facilities included hatching pools along 
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the embankment between the ponds (comparative photographs: figures 4-12a and 4-12b). None 
of these agricultural uses survive on the site today. 

Summary: Land Use Features 

Contributing Features Non-Contributing Features 
Commemorative 
Recreational 
Public Gathering 
Visitor Services 

 

TOPOGRAPHY 

The existing landform and topography of the Washington Monument Grounds was formed and 
gained its current character and configuration by the end of the period of significance. The 
existing topography of the Washington Monument Grounds is the result of massive and 
numerous manipulations of the natural ground plane. Visitors to the site today might find it hard 
to believe that much of the site was underwater when Washington City was established. 
Thousands of cubic yards of fill have transformed the site and resulted in a man-made ground 
plane. The most significant feature resulting from this manipulation, the knoll that serves as a 
base for the monument, was designed to stabilize it and provide an attractive approach. Created 
during the completion of the monument, this gentle rise in grade has undergone a number of 
minor alterations since 1889 as circulation patterns have been changed. 

When construction began on the monument, the western part of the site was low and marshy, 
with water coming so close to the Jefferson Pier that watercraft were tied to it upon landing 
(figure 2-6). The site was described as late as 1872 as being partly “overflowed at high tide” 
(figure 2-8). In the 1870s, a lake and two ponds were constructed by cutting and filling this 
marshy area to control flood waters; by 1938, these were filled and a flood control dyke built 
along Constitution Avenue. In fact, most of the earthmoving activity on the site has been related 
to flood control and water management, although some actions, such as the mound or knoll, 
relate to engineering and aesthetic purposes. While high ground was intentionally chosen as a 
location for the monument, the original landform was much less prominent than today’s knoll, 
which has been augmented by fill. The dramatic effect of the mound is enhanced by the expanse 
of level ground around the monument’s base, which has also been filled and graded over the 
years.  
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The Mound 

The most notable topographic feature on the monument grounds is the mound or knoll upon 
which the monument stands. When construction on the Washington Monument was suspended in 
1854, the monument stood on a small, steeply-sided knoll (figure 4-3). By the time of its 
dedication in 1885, the mound’s upper terrace had been expanded. At that time, however, 
Thomas Casey, the engineer who guided the monument’s design, proposed that the knoll be 
expanded even further and the sides be made to slope gradually. An 1889 plan shows the 
proposed new grade, which was achieved by depositing thousands of additional cubic yards of 
fill on the mound and other parts of the grounds (figure 2-28). This massive regrading effort 
established the general profile of the mound present today. It serves to mask the monument’s 
massive tiered foundation, and enhance its dramatic siting.  

The Flats  

In addition to the mound, the site’s pre-1791 topography has been manipulated in a number of 
ways since the preparation of the L’Enfant Plan. In the 1870s, the grounds were graded, 
including cutting of the high ground along 14th Street to fill along 14th Street north of the road 
entering the grounds. The lake and ponds added to the northwestern part of the site in the 1870s 
also were formed through site grading. Grading occurred in the northern portion of the grounds 
in the 1890s. The two ponds in the northwest corner of the grounds were filled in 1910. In the 
1930s, the Works Progress Administration workers leveled the grounds west of the monument 
where a seventeen-foot-tall flood control dyke was been constructed. Today, these manipulations 
of the ground are not obvious: the gently sloping, level, grassy grade of the site is relatively 
uniform, stretching from the knoll out to the tree-lined boundary streets (comparative 
photographs: figures 4-12a and 4-12b). 

Berm 

A ten-foot rise in topography occurs southeast of the Monument Lodge. This was modified in 
1951 to improve the intersection of Independence Avenue and 15th Street, and again in 1997 as 
part of the 15th Street, Jefferson and Madison Drive realignment project. This high point has also 
been accentuated at some point to provide the illusion of a single green swath extending between 
the Mall and the Washington Monument. Although it has been changed, this berm is contributing 
feature (comparative photographs: figures 4-13a and 4-13b). 

Adjacent Topography: Potomac Flats 

The filling of the Potomac Flats between 1882 and 1897 altered the surrounding context of the 
monument. The Potomac River, which once abutted the site, is no longer visible from the 
grounds. The Tidal Basin was also created at that time, however, providing an additional 
constructed water feature of interest for visitors. 
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Summary: Topography Features 

Contributing Features Non-Contributing Features 
The Mound (T-1) 
The Flats (T-2) 
Berm between 14th and 15th Streets (T-3) 

 

CIRCULATION 

Of the landscape features associated with the Washington Monument Grounds over the years, 
circulation has changed the most dramatically. Contributing resources include most of the 
perimeter roads around the Washington Monument Grounds, the plaza at the base of the 
monument, and a few walks and one set of steps. Various circulation features associated with 
earlier periods of the site’s history are no longer extant. Few of the existing walks were 
established during the period of significance. Numerous roads and associated features established 
after 1943 including 15th Street, the 16th Street parking lot, and Madison and Jefferson Drives 
also constitute non-contributing resources.  

Two graphic sources indicate circulation features associated with the monument grounds in the 
late 19th century. These include an 1880s bird’s eye view (figure 2-15) and an 1885 U.S. 
Geological Survey map of Washington (figure 2-21). These sources show one roadway passing 
through the monument grounds. This roadway enters the site from B Street (later Constitution 
Avenue) at Meridian Avenue (later 16th Street) and curves around the southwestern side of the 
monument, terminating at 14th Street opposite the Agriculture Department grounds.  

Numerous plans relating to the monument’s second phase of construction show an elaborate 
network of curvilinear carriageways encircling the knoll (figures 2-20, 2-26, and 2-28). Few 
sources exist to confirm which of these were ultimately built. The interior curvilinear roadways 
present when the site opened to the public are thought to have been inspired by A.J. Downing’s 
mid-19th-century design for the Mall. Some of these continued to exist after the adoption of the 
more formal McMillan Plan in the beginning of the 20th century, but most were removed in the 
1930s and 1940s. 

By the 1890s, the 14th Street entrance near the Agriculture Department was abandoned and new 
entrances to the grounds were in place at 15th Street and 14th Street along the grounds’ 
northeastern edge. Several of the planned carriage roads were in place by this time as well. 
Curving drives surrounding the knoll highlighted the monument’s object-like quality (figure 2-
31). Circulation within the grounds remained little altered until the 1930s. In 1936, the NPS 
implemented a plan to remove several of the existing roads, including 16th Street. These former 
circulation corridors were re-graded and planted with grass (figures 2-52 and 2-53). In 1956, 
Mission 66 plans for site improvements included the removal of the approach roads leading to 
the monument’s base. By 1961, vehicles were no longer permitted within the plaza areas. Today, 
vehicular traffic remains excluded from most of the grounds, with the exception of 15th Street, 
Madison and Jefferson Drives, and the 16th Street parking lot.  
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There has been less change associated with the roads and sidewalks along the perimeter of the 
site. Although road widening and regrading have occurred, Constitution Avenue and 14th Street 
have anchored the northern and eastern boundaries of the grounds since they were first 
delineated. Likewise, a paved plaza has existed at the base of the monument since 1889. 
Seventeenth Street and Independence Avenue, developed in the early 20th century on land 
reclaimed from the Potomac Flats, are also contributing circulation features. 

Constitution Avenue and 14th Street 

Constitution Avenue and 14th Street, which bound the Washington Monument Grounds on the 
north and east respectively, have edged the site since the 19th century. In 1931, Constitution 
Avenue was widened and its original flagstone sidewalks displaced. These roads connect the site 
to the urban grid, and their bordering sidewalks provide pedestrian access to the site. The rows of 
trees lining their edges also connect these street corridors to the larger pattern of city street-tree 
plantings. While the individual street trees likely do not survive from the period of significance, 
the patterns of these circulation features along the northern and eastern edges of the site are 
contributing resources. 

16th Street 

Vehicular circulation within the monument grounds initially consisted of a main roadway 
entering the site at the intersection of 16th Street and Constitution Avenue. Known as “Meridian 
Avenue,” this road was thirty-five-feet wide and surfaced with gravel. It led south into the site 
between the ponds present at the time, curving around the southwestern side of the knoll and 
connecting to 14th Street near the southeastern corner of the grounds. By the 1890s, trees had 
been planted along the 16th Street entry into the monument grounds. Sixteenth Street also appears 
as a tree-lined road through the grounds on the 1902 McMillan Plan (figure 2-31). The trees 
appear closely spaced and likely formed an allée-like approach to the monument. 

Sixteenth Street was removed in 1936 as part of a larger plan to alter circulation within the 
grounds. The existing parking lot was added in 1943, when temporary military office buildings 
occupied the central part of the grounds (figure 4-5). The entry to the lot and its central island, 
still extant today, follows the alignment of the old street and parking lot established by the Army. 

17th Street  

Seventeenth Street existed as part of the city’s grid of streets northwest of the monument grounds 
by 1851 (figure 2-3). It appears to have been gradually extended southward as land was 
reclaimed over the Potomac Flats. The road corridor assumed its current configuration by 1917 
(figure 2-38).  
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Independence Avenue 

Independence Avenue, a boulevard with a broad, central tree-lined median, was completed in 
1943 (figure 2-56). The southern edge of the monument grounds lacked a through road along its 
edge until the dredging of the Potomac Flats; by the early 20thcentury, a curvilinear road called 
the “river” drive existed along the edge of the Tidal Basin (figure 2-38). The current 
Independence Avenue alignment follows the general route of this earlier drive and a proposed 
road—B Street South—that was never built. 

15th Street and Madison and Jefferson Drives 

The north end of 15th Street, flanked by stone gateposts relocated from the Capitol grounds in 
1874, appears to have provided an entry to the Washington Monument Grounds by 1889. While 
B Street (Constitution Avenue), 14th Street, and 17th Street are shown lined with trees on the 
1902 McMillan Plan, 15th Street apparently never received the same treatment (figure 2-31), 
indicating that it may have been considered a secondary roadway. The alignment and function of 
15th Street has shifted perhaps more than any other associated with the site. In 1936, in 
conjunction with the Mall plan to follow the McMillan Plan, connections to Madison and 
Jefferson Drives were established from 15th Street. In 1963, the 15th Street roadway was replaced 
with a pedestrian walkway. The roadway was slated for realignment as part of the 1981 
Development Concept Plan (DCP). This concept was implemented based on the revised DCP in 
1993 (figure 2-82). Today, 15th Street, a curvilinear vehicular roadway with adjacent sidewalks, 
constitutes the site’s primary vehicular access route. While entrances were constructed along 14th 
Street across from the ends of Jefferson and Madison Drives, these two roads were realigned in 
their current diagonal alignments in 1997. 

Survey Lodge Service Drive 

The service drive around the Survey Lodge was initially oriented to the northeast and connected, 
via two Y intersections, to a former curvilinear drive within the monument grounds. Several 
plans, including a 1902 site plan and a 1917 existing conditions plan, show this tree-lined oval 
drive (figures 2-31 and 2-38). When the curvilinear drive was removed in 1936, the service drive 
was modified to follow part of the alignment of an old carriage road. It later connected to the 
new Independence Avenue (figure 2-52). By 1950, the drive connected only to Independence. By 
1981, it had taken on its current configuration (figure 2-83). A small portion of the existing 
service drive is flanked by cobble-lined gutters, which may survive from the original oval drive.  

Plaza  

There has been a level paved area at the base of the Washington Monument since the completion 
of its construction, although the plaza has evolved over the years. In 1887, the plaza was a ten-
foot-wide apron of granolithic stone laid to prevent erosion. In 1889, it was extended to cover a 
circular area with a seventy-foot radius, set within an eight-inch granolithic curb and gutter 
(figure 2-28). A fifty-foot-wide gravel roadway was to encircle the plaza and connect with thirty-
foot-wide roadways and nine-foot-wide walks leading to various entrances at the perimeter of the 
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grounds. Formal paving was added after 1906 to address complaints of wind-blown dust from 
the graveled surface. As of the most recent renovation in 2000, the apron consists of an inner 
circle of concrete measuring 74 feet in diameter and an outer ring of asphalt measuring 120 feet 
in diameter. The current size of the plaza is derived from the original plaza with the addition of 
the former roadway that encircled it. 

Pedestrian Walks and Paths 

Most of the pedestrian circulation existing on the site today has been added in recent years. 
While some existing circulation follows the general alignment of historic paths, the grading and 
materials of the walks have changed and been replaced numerous times over the years. The many 
changes to pedestrian circulation in the western portion of the grounds reflects the various uses 
of the area. The construction and filling of lakes and ponds, the addition and removal of 
recreational facilities, and the erection and removal of temporary buildings during World War II 
have affected walks and paths to various degrees (figure 4-5).  

The first known mention of pedestrian circulation at the Washington Monument Grounds dates 
from 1888 when Thomas Casey began to upgrade the grounds. The first location-specific 
mention of paths dates from 1889. That year, a boardwalk is described as extending between 14th 
Street and the “Lodge House” (likely the Monument Lodge) and the east face of the monument. 
Other plank walks were added throughout the 1890s, although their locations are not known. 
Documentation suggests that flagstone walks were laid in 1901-02, and many of the boardwalks 
were improved through grading, cindering, and/or paving. 

Although today’s asphalt walks appear to be a contemporary feature of the site, asphalt was 
apparently used as a paving material as early as 1890-91 when an asphalt walk was constructed 
from the north side of the monument to the northwest, possibly extending to 17th Street. An 
asphalt walk follows roughly the same alignment today. In 1891-92 an asphalt walk was built 
from the northwestern corner of the Monument to 16th Street. An asphalt walk generally follows 
this route today.  

In 1896-97, documentary sources suggest a thirty-foot-wide gravel roadway was added in the 
northeast part of the grounds. A diagonal walk still runs from the monument to the northeast 
corner of the grounds at the corner of Constitution Avenue and 14th Street. Another walk in the 
northeast corner of the site runs diagonally from the point where 15th Street enters the grounds to 
14th Street. This walk may approximate the route of a walk established based on the 1936 plan.  

A circa 1902 plan shows walks leading east from 16th Street curving around and up to the 
monument (figure 2-31). These walks appear to have survived more or less intact until the 1936 
removal of 16th Street and other site features.  

In 1942, two parallel walks appear on a site plan leading from the monument towards 17th Street. 
They stop at the edge of a collection of temporary buildings sited in this area to accommodate 
the needs of the U.S. Army and others during World War II; it is not known when these walks 
were built or removed. In 1984, two paths generally following the alignment of the 1942 paths 
were installed.  
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Little is known about the origin of walks at the Sylvan Theatre, or the lodges. By 1902, flagstone 
walks existed around the Survey Lodge, but these were later replaced. Flagstone steps at the 
Sylvan Theatre may date to its 1917 construction or to landscape changes made in the 1930s. 

Development within the site in anticipation of the nation’s bicentennial in the 1970s resulted in 
the addition of some pedestrian circulation features that remain today. These include the small 
queuing area near the Monument Lodge. Other late-20th-century non-contributing features 
include the walks within the German-American Friendship Garden. 

Today, pedestrian walkways of asphalt and concrete crisscross the site in a relatively informal 
manner, connecting important intersections and features. While some of the current walks 
suggest remnant alignments of former circulation features, none appear to be completely intact or 
retain material integrity.  

Connections to Adjacent Sites 

Formal crosswalks provide connections to the Ellipse to the north, the Reflecting Pool to the 
west, the Tidal Basin to the south, and the National Mall and Smithsonian to the east. Most of 
these post-date the period of significance and are non-contributing features. Connections 
between these areas of the Mall and the Washington Monument Grounds make the site amenable 
to public gatherings and other activities that require large areas of open space. Access between 
the monument grounds east to the Mall and west to the Reflecting Pool and Lincoln Memorial is 
unencumbered by major obstructions. The NPS has placed post and chain barriers along portions 
of 14th, 15th, and 17th Streets to encourage people to use the crosswalks. 

Other Missing Circulation Systems 

During the initial construction of the Washington Monument, a rail line was laid across the site, 
extending from the Baltimore and Potomac line on Maryland Avenue to the base of the 
monument. Stone and other materials were brought to the site by rail. The rail line was renewed 
ca. 1880 to support the second phase of construction. A section was elevated on a trestle to reach 
the top of the knoll as the monument neared completion. The track and trestle were removed 
after construction was completed in 1885. No trace of the rail line remains today. 

Summary: Circulation Features 

Contributing Features Non-Contributing Features 
17th Street corridor, including sidewalks (C-1) 
Constitution Avenue corridor, including 

sidewalks (C-2) 
14th Street corridor, including sidewalks (C-3) 
Independence Avenue corridor, including 

sidewalks (C-4) 
Flagstone steps at the Sylvan Theatre (C-5) 
Walks between the monument and 17th Street 

(C-6) 

15th Street corridor, including sidewalks, bus 
pull-offs (C-7) 

Madison Drive corridor, including sidewalks, 
bus pull-offs (C-8) 

Jefferson Drive corridor, including sidewalks, 
bus pull-offs (C-9) 

16th Street parking lot and drive (C-10) 
Wooden ramp at Sylvan Theatre (C-13) 
Queuing area, Bicentennial development (C-
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Monument plaza (C-11) 
 
 

14) 
Walks within German-American Friendship 

Garden (C-15) 
Walks at Sylvan Theatre (C-12) 
Oval service drive at Survey Lodge (C-16) 
Walks at Monument Lodge (C-17)  
Terrace at Monument Lodge (C-18) 
Walks at Survey Lodge (C-19) 
Concrete sidewalks (C-20) 
Asphalt walks/paths (C-21) 

VEGETATION 

Vegetation characterizing the Washington Monument Grounds includes groves of canopy trees 
and flowering trees, street trees, foundation plantings, a perennial garden, and grass turf. The two 
primary vegetation types are tree plantings and turf grass. Trees are planted in rows and groves. 
Rows of trees include the street trees that line the perimeter roads and short segments that may 
survive from earlier patterns of spatial organization or circulation features that are no longer 
extant. Groves include groupings of deciduous canopy trees and flowering cherries. The use of 
street trees to line the District’s primary streets and avenues dates to the early monument 
construction period. Groves of canopy trees appear to have been planted since the mid-20th 
century, possibly since the period of significance. A small grouping of mulberry trees southwest 
of the monument may constitute the only naturally-occurring vegetation on the site. These were 
present by the period of significance and constitute contributing resources. Although the use of 
ornamental vegetation within the grounds dates to as early as 1886, few examples of ornamental 
plantings likely survive from the period of significance. The existing cherry groves appear to 
have been planted on the Washington Monument Grounds since 1955 and are non-contributing 
features of the landscape. 

Street Trees 

Street trees were present as early as 1855 on the 14th Street side of the monument grounds. By 
the 1870s, rows of deciduous trees were planted along portions of B Street (Constitution 
Avenue), along 14th Street, and along both sides of Meridian Avenue (16th Street) at twenty-five- 
foot intervals (figure 2-9).4 Beginning in the early 1870s, efforts were made to improve the 
“Monumental Grounds,” as they were called. Artistic renderings of the site indicate that trees 
were planted along the curving road that ran through the grounds (figures 2-15 and 2-16). The 
renderings suggest the trees lining the west and south sides of the road were widely spaced. A 
photo dating to ca. 1884, shows trees along the curvilinear road, 16th Street, B Street, 14th Street, 
and the southern edge of the site (Figure 4-6). The information conveyed in the 1884 image is 
corroborated by historic site plans and annual reports.  

In 1880, mixed varieties of trees are known to have lined 14th Street (figure 2-12). Trees continue 
to line 14th Street today, although a gap has been left in the planting to enhance the vista towards 
the U.S. Capitol. 
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Constitution Avenue is currently edged by closely-spaced double rows of elm trees. In 1880, the 
road corridor was edged by a single line of poplars to its south (figure 2-12). Independence 
Avenue also includes a line of trees along its length, except for a gap associated with the 16th 
Street axis providing views toward the White House. Seventeenth Street, not established until the 
Potomac Flats were filled in the 1890s, is also lined with trees. The use of street trees along these 
perimeter roads contributes to the historic significance of the site. 

Turf Grass and Groves of Trees 

One of the improvements made to the grounds in 1873 included the planting of grass lawn. Grass 
was again added after the grounds were regraded in 1875-76. As part of this effort, they were 
covered with street sweepings and seeded with bluegrass and rye. Grass has continued to 
characterize much of the monument grounds landscape ever since. The central portion of the 
Washington Monument Grounds particularly is characterized by open grassy lawn.  

Records indicate that a variety of trees, including evergreens, maples, elms, and others “suited to 
the grounds” were planted after the 1875-76 grading efforts were completed, and in 1888 as part 
of the grounds improvements. Additional trees were added in 1905-06. Today, open groves of 
trees standing in the southeastern and southwestern corners of the grounds likely contain trees 
surviving from early-20th-century plantings. 

Other plantings of the late 19th century included flower beds laid out in the triangles formed by 
the intersections of roads and walkways (figures 2-20, 2-31). These do not survive today. With 
the exception of the German-American Friendship Garden (discussed below), there are no flower 
gardens present on the grounds today.  

Plantings around Buildings 

Early photographs of Monument Lodge show little vegetation around its perimeter until after 
1931 (figures 2-29 and 2-40; and comparative photographs: figures 4-10a and 4-10b, 4-21a and 
4-21b, and 4-22a and 4-22b). It is not yet clear whether any of the existing plantings survive 
from 1931, although it is likely that the area has been replanted numerous times as part of the 
various landscape renovations that occurred around the lodge in 1948, 1955, and 1963. A 1989 
landscape rehabilitation plan indicates that the plantings were planned to be renewed at that time. 

The Survey Lodge sits in a grove of trees and shrubs. There were apparently no trees or shrubs 
around the lodge building when it was completed in 1889. By 1902, a grass oval lined with trees 
had been constructed around the building (figure 2-31). It is unclear whether any of the extant 
trees near the Survey Lodge remain from this planting. Plantings are known to have been added 
around the building in the 20th century, but little is known about them.  

Ornamental plantings have been part of the design of the Sylvan Theatre since its early days; 
hence the name “sylvan.” However, the early plantings associated with the theater appear to have 
been replaced by new designs over the years. A 1931 map shows privet hedges encircling the 
theater on the sides and rear, forming open-air dressing rooms to either side of the stage (figure 
2-70). Remnants of this privet hedge now lead to dressing rooms housed in metal buildings to the 
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west and east of the stage. A row of hollies planted along the back of the theater appears to have 
replaced a group of shrubs that existed in 1931. The hollies and other shrubs in this area convey 
the same feeling of enclosure as the earlier vegetation, and also effectively screen the rear of the 
theater from the street, but do not likely survive from the period of significance.  

Cherry Trees 

The existing groves of cherry trees post-date the period of significance. Among the many 
ornamental trees and shrubs recorded on the site in 1886 are two flowering cherry trees (Prunus 
spp). However, it appears that cherry trees were not planted in any significant number until well 
after the Tidal Basin cherry tree plantings were begun in 1912. 

Cherry groves may have first appeared on the monument grounds in 1954-55 in association with 
the Sylvan Theatre plantings. A variety of species, including Yoshino, Kwanzan, and Rosea 
cherries, are indicated on a 1954 planting plan (figure 2-74). Today, 341 of the 342 cherry trees 
on the monument grounds have been identified as Yoshino, and the other is a Kwanzan.5 Several 
dense groves of cherries exist today in the vicinity of the Sylvan Theatre. One is centered 140 
feet west of the stage and another is located 130 feet to its northeast. There are also groves of 
cherry trees west and southwest of the 16th Street parking area and between the parking lot and 
15th Street. The presence of cherry trees on the monument grounds ties the site to the ring of 
cherry trees around the Tidal Basin to the south. 

The German-American Friendship Garden 

Begun in the 1980s and as yet unfinished, the German-American Friendship Garden includes 
shrubs, grasses, perennials, brick walks, and circular fountains.6 These garden plantings, which 
flank the entrance to the 16th Street parking lot, are non-contributing. 

Summary: Vegetation Features 

Contributing Features Non-Contributing Features 

Lawn (Ve-1) 

Grove of mulberry trees (Ve-2) 

Street trees along 17th Street (Ve-3) 

Street trees along Constitution Avenue (Ve-4) 

Street trees along 14th Street (Ve-5) 

Open groves (Ve-10) 

Individual trees (Ve-14) 

Street trees along Independence Avenue (Ve-6) 

German-American Friendship Garden 
plantings (Ve-12) 

Lines of trees (Ve-13) 

Cherry groves (Ve-11) 

Monument Lodge plantings (Ve-7) 

Survey Lodge plantings (Ve-8) 

Sylvan Theatre plantings (Ve-9) 
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BUILDINGS AND STRUCTURES 

The prominence of the obelisk within the Washington Monument Grounds and the National Mall 
has been maintained throughout its history, particularly since its completion in 1884, while the 
significance of the Washington Monument as a national symbol appears to have grown over 
time.  

Most of the other structures that occupied the site during the late 18th and early 19th centuries, 
including construction-related buildings, military structures, housing, and stables are no longer 
extant. Before the Washington National Monument Society took control of the site, there were 
apparently some houses and fences built on the grounds. These were removed by the time 
construction began in the 1840s. Recreational facilities from the early 20th century, including 
tennis courts, a boat house, a swimming pool, and associated facilities have also vanished. 
Temporary buildings erected on the site during World War II were the last to be removed. Some 
remained on site until the mid-1960s.  

Two buildings constructed on the Washington Monument Grounds during the 19th century—the 
Monument and Survey Lodges—survive, although their uses have been modified. The Survey 
Lodge was constructed circa 1885 as a boiler house for the monument. It now serves as an NPS 
administration facility and as a limited visitor contact facility with restrooms. The Monument 
Lodge, originally intended to accommodate the public comfort, continues to serve the needs of 
visitors. Aside from a 1960s concession addition on the Monument Lodge, the exteriors of the 
two lodge buildings remain generally unaltered since 1889. However, their surroundings, 
including plantings and circulation, have changed greatly since the 19th century.  

The Sylvan Theatre, established in 1917, has become a more permanent structure over time, with 
various additions and accompanying structures augmenting the feature.  

The Washington Monument  

Despite being constructed a few hundred feet from its originally intended location, the 
pyramidion-topped obelisk has maintained a commanding position and relationship to the 
Capitol to the east and the White House to the north since its completion. Between 1854 and 
1880, the monument stood in a state of partial completion. Once completed, the obelisk stood 
555 feet in height, supported by a 55-foot-square base and surrounded by a level plaza set atop a 
steeply-sided artificial knoll.7 Much of the knoll was constructed from fill placed to stabilize the 
massive, tiered, concrete footings that support the weight of the monument. The grassy knoll and 
the obelisk remain the dominant features within the landscape today. Although the knoll has 
been reshaped and augmented several times since 1885, its relationship to the monument has 
remained constant. (See the Topography section earlier in this chapter for further information.) 

Survey Lodge 

The Survey Lodge, originally designed as a boiler house to supply steam power to the 
Washington Monument elevator, was built in 1885. The lodge’s most prominent feature is its 
forty-foot-tall chimney. A steam tunnel that once led from the Survey Lodge to the monument is 
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now covered by a sidewalk. The building, expanded in 1901, now houses NPS personnel offices 
and public rest rooms. In general, the building retains its original structural features and 
character. 

Monument Lodge 

Monument Lodge, begun in 1888, was constructed as the arrival point for visitors to the 
monument. It was always intended as a waiting room for tours of the Washington Monument, 
with public rest rooms. Although the west side of the building has been altered through the 
addition of a 1960s-era concession stand, its eastern façade remains relatively unchanged 
(comparative photographs: figures 4-21a and 4-21b, 4-22a and 4-22b). Minor modifications 
include a wooden platform and ramp for universal access that covers the concrete terrace. The 
Monument Lodge continues to house restrooms, and souvenirs and books are sold in a small 
store in the front portion of the building. 

Sylvan Theatre 

The Sylvan Theatre began as an earthen stage in 1917 (figure 2-37). It was proposed as a “theatre 
for Shakespeare” in 1916 by Alice Pike Barney, a patroness of the arts. A 1931 plan of the 
theatre and its landscaped surroundings shows a stand of trees behind the stage and steps leading 
down from either side of the front of the stage (figure 2-70). Dressing rooms were created on 
either side by privet hedges; the audience most likely sat on the grass. The first permanent stage, 
four feet tall and rectangular in plan, was built in 1944. The proscenium arch was added in 1962. 
A plan for the comfort station next to the theater was developed in 1974. In 1976, a temporary 
visitor center, the Kodak Theatre, was built between the Sylvan Theatre and the Monument 
Lodge (figure 2-82). The Sylvan Theatre was also renovated at this time. Dressing rooms and 
sheds, as well as other additions at the Sylvan Theatre, presumably reflect these renovations.  

Jefferson Pier 

The location of the intersection of two axes or meridia—one extending south from the White 
House, and the other west from the Capitol—was first demarcated in 1793 with a wooden post. 
The stone Jefferson Pier replaced the wooden posts in 1804. The present marker is a replacement 
for the original, which was unintentionally destroyed in 1872. Because the pier today sits in a 
treeless part of the site, it is a conspicuous component of the landscape and a surviving structure 
from the early history of the monument grounds (comparative photographs: figures 4-9a and 4-
9b). 

Bulfinch Gateposts 

Several pairs of gateposts that once occupied the grounds of the U.S. Capitol were moved to a 
series of intersections along Constitution Avenue (then B Street) in 1874. A pair of the gateposts 
still flanks 15th Street at its intersection with Constitution Avenue.  

Missing Buildings 
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A number of construction-related buildings were erected on the Washington Monument Grounds 
to support the ambitious monument construction project. Because the monument was built in two 
stages, two sets of construction buildings have existed on the site. The first set included stone-
working shops, storage, and security facilities. Also during this period, a wharf and railroad 
grade supported the work. These stood until the end of the Civil War. The second group stood 
between circa 1880 and 1885. They included stone cutters’ sheds, a carpentry shop, storage for 
lumber, cement, iron, and tools, an engine house, water closet, lapidarium, offices, three forges, 
and tool sharpening and blacksmith shops. A sketch plan exists to illustrate the layout of the 
monument grounds when these buildings were standing (figure 4-2).  

Recreational Facilit ies 

Numerous recreational structures have come and gone within the monument grounds since the 
early 20th century. By the 1920s there were at least fifteen tennis courts on the grounds. The 
earliest courts, shown on a 1917 plan, were built in a block of five to the northeast of swimming 
facilities along 16th Street (figure 4-7). A 1919 plan reveals a block of ten more courts west of 
the swimming pools. The block of ten was gone by 1930 and the other five were removed by 
1936 when Works Progress Administration (WPA) workers leveled the northwestern part of the 
grounds in preparation for constructing a seventeen-foot-tall flood control dike or levee.  

The 19th-century fish ponds, located in the northern part of the grounds, were converted to 
swimming basins in 1907. A 1905 topographic map showing lines for a proposed sewer system 
indicates the ponds, supply house, and watch house for the fisheries (figure 2-34). A domed 
building labeled “Supply House” on maps showing the fish ponds appears to have been 
converted into a bath house when the ponds were transferred to the District Commissioners “for 
use as a Bathing Beach in June 1907.” 8 By 1910, when the ponds, after their brief tenure as 
“bathing basins,” were filled, additional swimming pools had been constructed in the location of 
the former hatching ponds on the levy between the north and south ponds. A 1917 plan shows 
rectangular pools and associated structures, including a structure housing shower baths and 
dressing rooms (figures 2-38 and 4-7). A boat house in this cluster was later removed and its 
foundation converted into an outdoor swimming pool. The pool was later drained and filled, and 
then rebuilt as a boat house before being removed altogether in 1936. Other support buildings at 
the swimming area included an office and toilets. All of these facilities were removed in 1936 
when the area was regarded by the WPA. Nothing remains of these features today. 
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Temporary War Buildings 

In 1942, a complex of temporary office buildings was constructed in the western half of the 
grounds between 17th Street and the former 16th Street alignment. A plan shows three distinct 
structures, two parallel to 17th Street and the third parallel to Constitution Avenue (figure 4-5). 
Some of the war-related buildings remained on site until 1970-71.  

Non-Contributing Buildings 

Numerous small structures were added to the monument during the latter part of the 20th century 
to support tourism and other purposes. These include kiosks for bus tour and ticket sales; a 
comfort station near the Sylvan Theatre; a retaining wall along 15th Street; light vaults; and the 
temporary entry station structure at the monument base. 

Summary: Building and Structures Features 

Contributing Features Non-Contributing Features 
Washington Monument (B-1) 
Monument Lodge (B-2) 
Survey Lodge (B-4) 
Jefferson Pier survey marker (S-1) 
Sylvan Theatre stage (S-2) 
Bulfinch gateposts (S-3) 
 
 

Monument Lodge addition (B-3) 
Sylvan Theatre dressing rooms (B-5) 
Sylvan Theatre sheds (B-6) 
Comfort station (B-7) 
Ticket kiosk (S-4) 
Bus tour kiosk (S-5) 
Light vaults (S-6) 
Monument entry station (S-7) 
Granite retaining wall (S-8) 

SMALL-SCALE FEATURES 

Small-scale features are one of the most difficult resource types to compare over time at the site, 
because they are little discussed in early documents and are not easy to discern in historic maps 
and photographs due to their size and scale. Consideration of existing small-scale features 
through observation suggests that most of the extant small-scale features on the Washington 
Monument Grounds appear to be of relatively recent origin. A few features, such as the 
cobblestone gutters near the Survey Lodge and a few bench and light post types, may survive 
from the period of significance. Other features of more recent origin that, while not historic, are 
consistent with the site’s historic character and design intent. For instance, the flagpoles that ring 
the monument plaza do not date to the period of significance and were apparently not part of 
either Mills’ or Casey’s visions for the site, but temporary flagpoles were used around the plaza 
during the period of significance. These features remain consistent with and enhance the 
ceremonial intent of the monument, and they symbolize the expansion of the meaning of the site 
to broader patriotic themes.  
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Constructed Water Features 

Although there are no extant water features on the Washington Monument Grounds save two 
small fountains in the German-American Friendship Garden, water features were formerly 
important components of the landscape. When the grounds were first delineated, the Washington 
Canal edged the site to the north. By 1873, Babcock Lake had been created to the north of the 
monument; three years later there were two additional fish ponds on the site, created as flood 
control measures. The ponds were replaced by swimming pools, which lasted from 1907 until the 
mid-1930s. Other water features important to the site’s context include the Tidal Basin to the 
south and Reflecting Pool to the west. 

Washington Canal 

The Washington Canal was created in 1815 through the channelization of Tiber Creek. It 
followed the current alignment of Constitution Avenue along the northern edge of the grounds. 
Never a successful enterprise, the canal was culverted between 1871 and 1873 prior to being 
covered by a roadway, then called B Street, that later became Constitution Avenue. Constitution 
Avenue still forms the northern boundary for the Washington Monument Grounds, following the 
historic alignment of the canal. 

Babcock Lake 

Babcock Lake was created north and west of the monument in 1873. It was fed by natural 
springs, the Potomac River, and a 4-inch supply pipe that ran 800 feet between 14th Street and 
the lake. A second pipe fed an aeration fountain in the middle of the lake. An undated, ca.-1870s 
somewhat fanciful depiction of the site shows the lake and its fountain as an element in the park 
landscape that was to be retained as an ornamental feature after the monument’s completion 
(figure 4-8). The lake did not, however, last long; it was filled in 1887 because engineers feared 
it was destabilizing the monument’s foundations. During its brief existence, Babcock Lake was 
utilized by the U.S. Commission of Fish and Fisheries to raise fish.  

Fish Ponds and Swimming Pools 

During the second construction period in the 1870s-1880s, the Army Corps of Engineers created 
two ponds on the northwestern edge of the grounds, one six acres in size and the other four acres, 
to act as a flood prevention measure (figures 2-26 and 2-34). The banks of the ponds were 
sodded and paved with cobblestones; one had an island in its center accessed by a small bridge. 
The ponds flanked the proposed alignment of Virginia Avenue, which was never extended into 
the monument grounds, although a right-of-way appears to have been left between the ponds for 
that purpose.  

In 1877, a third pond was added to the south of the others, and west of the monument, where an 
inlet of the Potomac River was enclosed and cut off from the river itself, likely as part of flood 
control measures prior to the filling of the Potomac Flats. All of these ponds were turned over to 
the U.S. Commission of Fish and Fisheries in 1878 and used to raise carp. A series of hatching 
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ponds was constructed on the land between the east and west ponds by the commission, which 
also built a small “acclimatization pond” extension by digging out in the eastern bank of the 
south pond for the introduction of newly hatched fish. The ponds went out of use as a fishery 
circa 1905; in 1907 they were converted to use for public bathing. Between 1908 and 1911, the 
ponds were filled with ashes and clay and the ground graded and seeded. The hatching ponds 
between the old lakes were converted to swimming pools ca. 1910, remaining in use until 1936 
when they were removed to prepare for construction of a flood control dyke to “protect federal 
buildings on Constitution Avenue.”9 No visible trace of these water features remain on the 
surface today, although the northwestern corner of the Washington Monument Grounds 
consistently exhibits ponding on the poorly-drained soil. 

Adjacent Construction Water Features  

Constructed water features are also located on lands adjacent to the Washington Monument 
Grounds, including the Tidal Basin and Reflecting Pool. The Potomac Flats to the west of the 
Monument Grounds were still tidal marshes when the monument opened to the public in 1889. 
At the time the monument was begun in 1848, and even after it was completed, these marshlands 
reached nearly to its base (figure 2-9). An engineering project to fill the flats began in 1897 and 
was not completed until 1901. It resulted in the creation of East and West Potomac Parks and the 
Tidal Basin.10 Prior to construction of Independence Avenue, the Tidal Basin abutted the 
Washington Monument Grounds. 

The Reflecting Pool, built in conjunction with the Lincoln Memorial, is linked to the monument 
grounds both visually and symbolically. The 1902 McMillan Plan conceptualized a cross axial 
relationship between the Washington Monument and important buildings or memorials on all 
four sides. Designers of the Reflecting Pool took into account the view of the monument and 
conversely the view of the Lincoln Memorial and their reflection in the pool.   

Elevation Obelisk 

The elevation obelisk, placed on the site in 1898 by the Coast and Geodetic Survey, was intended 
to serve as a benchmark for the Washington Monument. It was placed in a manhole 150 feet 
south of the monument for the purpose of calculating the settlement of the monument. It is not 
visible from the surface of the site. 

Site Furnishings 

Benches 

Benches have been placed around the monument grounds for visitor comfort since at least 1905, 
when park “settees” are mentioned in annual reports about maintenance on the grounds. Their 
placement within the grounds and appearance are not described in these sources, however. In 
1932, the monument base was encircled with eighty-four benches around the inner curb. These 
cast-iron-and-wood-slat benches appear in photographs from 1942 (figures 2-61 to 2-63). In 
1958, additional benches installed in a ring beyond the circle at the base of the monument 
provided seating for visitors not planning to ascend the structure. In 1963, the 1932 plaza seating 
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was replaced by concrete-and-wood-slat benches. All of these former benches were replaced by 
the existing outer ring of benches in 2002. These backless benches are composed of recycled 
plastic. A few of the old-style benches, composed of a black cast-iron frame with an unpainted 
wood-slat seat and back, remain elsewhere on the monument grounds, as well as along 
Constitution Avenue (figure 3-55). 

Concrete-and-wood-slat backless benches at the Monument Lodge appear to date to 1963 and the 
development of the addition and terrace. 

The granite benches in the German-American Friendship Garden were added to the site in the 
1980s and are non-contributing resources. 

Flagpoles  

A ring of forty-eight American flags was temporarily flown at the base of the Washington 
Monument for the first time to commemorate George Washington’s birthday in 1920. By 1940, 
flags were regularly placed in a circle around the base of the monument as part of the 4th of July 
celebrations. In 1942 a joint Resolution allowed the flags to stay up at night for the desired 
patriotic effect. Mission 66 improvements implemented in 1957 included installation of 
permanent, twenty-five-foot-high, aluminum flagpoles, and associated floodlights placed in four 
underground vaults. In 1971, President Nixon issued a Presidential Proclamation to allow the 
flags to fly twenty-four hours a day. Fifty American flags, each representing a state, continue to 
encircle the monument twenty-four hours a day (comparative photographs: figures 4-15a and 4-
15b).  

Lighting 

A few light poles within the monument grounds are known to have been used historically and 
during the period of significance. It is difficult in some cases to determine whether the existing 
light poles were actually placed on the site during the period of significance, however. The 
historic light pole types include the Washington Globe single lamp street lights, the Olmsted 
single lamp street light, and the “Twin Twenty” double lamp street lights. The Twin Twenty 
standard was used for major roads and avenues in the Mall area between 1923 and 1960.11 
According to NPS, the single Washington Globe lights were in place along Constitution Avenue 
at 14th Street by 1936; and Olmsted lights were in place on Jefferson Drive by 1937 and the 16th 
Street parking lot entrance road by 1947 (comparative photographs: figures 4-19a and 4-19b). 
Missing today is another type of globe light visible in photos from the 1920s around the 
monument base and along 15th Street (comparative photographs: figures 4-16a and 4-9a). 

In the 1880s, the only known lighting on the Washington Monument Grounds consisted of gas 
lamps along 14th Street, according to an 1880 map showing gaslight locations in the city (figure 
2-14). Twelve electric lights were added along the roadways within the grounds circa 1904-05. 
These were supplemented by fifty-five new gaslights in 1911-12. Lights were added to the tennis 
courts in 1927. In 1930-31, lighting was added to the exterior of the Monument Lodge and to the 
Sylvan Theatre.  
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Street lighting was planned to be enhanced in 1951, with 1,000-lumen globes to be upgraded to 
2,500-lumen Washington Globe lights along 15th Street. The 15th Street lights were replaced 
again in the late 20th century realignment of the roadway. Other Washington Globe-style lamps 
exist elsewhere on the site, and may survive from the period of significance. 

In 1925, the monument was first lit by searchlights from the nearby Powhatan Hotel. In 1929, 
more searchlights were added for the safety of airplanes; in 1931, red warning lights were 
installed on the top of the monument to take over this function. Floodlights were first installed on 
the grounds to illuminate the monument at night in 1931-32. Twenty of these lights were 
installed near the base of the monument. Darkened between 1941 and 1945, these original 
floodlights were replaced in 1958 with a new system installed in four underground vaults placed 
to each side of the obelisk. They are lit daily from late afternoon until dawn. Other floodlights, 
installed later, are located a few feet from the monument’s base. There are also spotlights 
mounted on elevated concrete piers. These lighting features postdate the period of significance 
and are non-contributing resources.  

Other Site Furnishings 

The first known mention of drinking fountains on the grounds is one installed for visitor use on 
the north side of the Monument Lodge in 1902-03. This drinking fountain does not survive. All 
of the existing fountains on the site appear to post-date the period of significance. 

Before 1963, the only trash receptacle type mentioned in association with the site is a wire 
basket. In 1963, wood-slat trash receptacles with metal liners and covered tops were installed on 
the monument grounds. No contributing trash receptacles remain on the monument grounds 
today. 

Fencing 

One fence on the monument grounds appears to survive from the period of significance. This is a 
decorative cast-iron fence enclosing two planting areas associated with the Monument Lodge. 
All other fencing features appear to post-date the period of significance and constitute non-
contributing resources. There are currently two other fence types found on the site. The most 
prevalent is metal post-and-chain fencing, which is found near the Survey Lodge and the Sylvan 
Theatre, along 14th and 15th Streets, at the 16th Street parking lot, and along one of the walks. 
While this post-and-chain fencing was installed after 1943, this type of fencing was used on the 
site as early as 1901 near the Survey Lodge (comparative photographs: figure 4-16a). The other 
fence type present today is a wooden board fence surrounding the service area behind the Survey 
Lodge. 

Other fencing types historically used on the grounds but no longer present include earlier 
versions of post-and-chain fences along roadways and paths, chain-link fencing surrounding the 
temporary buildings erected on the monument grounds during World War II (comparative 
photographs: figure 4-9a) and wire wickets bordering the sidewalk in front of Monument Lodge 
(comparative photographs: figure 4-10a).  
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Drainage Features  

As early as 1901, cobblestone gutters, 2-1/2- to 3-feet-wide, are noted as being constructed 
throughout the site. It is possible that the remnant stone-lined drainage ditch along the edge of 
the Survey Lodge service drive dates to this period. As such it is a contributing resource. No 
other examples of this gutter type remain currently visible on the monument grounds. 

Plaques 

Currently located along the center of the pedestrian walk leading to the monument plaza 
east/northeast of the entry station, the dedication plaque is a large bronze tablet with raised 
lettering that details the contributions of various groups and individuals to the establishment of 
the Washington Monument. Struck in 1885 under the direction of the Washington National 
Monument Society, the plaque was originally intended to be sited inside the monument, but 
Engineer Thomas Casey rejected this proposed location. In 1898, a second request by the Society 
was similarly denied by the Chief of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. The plaque was 
subsequently stored in the offices of the Society within the Monument Lodge, until these were 
lost to an expansion of the restroom facilities in 1931.  

The plaque first appears on maps of the site in a December 1956 drawing entitled “Local Plot 
Plan and Section.” It is shown placed to the north of the monument. However, the plaque does 
not appear again on plans and maps of the monument until the 1990s when it is included in the 
1994 HABS documentation drawings of the monument and plaza. It is unclear when the plaque 
was moved to its current location. 

The George Washington granite panel was installed in the late 20th century; other signage also 
appears to be of recent origin and does not contribute to the significance of the site.  

Summary: Small-scale Features 

Contributing Features Non-Contributing Features 
Elevation obelisk (SS-1) 
Twin Twenty double lamp street lights (SS-2) 
Cast iron and wood slat benches (SS-7) 
Ring of flagpoles (SS-9) 
Dedication plaque at monument base (SS-5) 
Cast iron fencing (SS-10) 
Stone-lined drainage ditch (SS-32) 
Washington Globe single lamp street lights 

(SS-3) 
Olmsted single lamp street lights (SS-4) 
 

George Washington granite panel (SS-6) 
Monument floodlight (SS-12) 
Monument spotlight (SS-13) 
Stone benches (SS-14) 
Cast-iron and recycled plastic benches (SS-15) 
Drinking fountains (SS-16) 
Fountains in German-American Friendship 

Garden (SS-17) 
100th Anniversary panel (SS-18) 
Informational, traffic, and regulatory signage 

(SS-19, 20, 21) 
WW II Memorial interp. signage (SS-22) 
Traffic lights (SS-23) 
Timber fence at Survey Lodge (SS-25) 
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Bollards (SS-26) 
Gates (SS-27) 
Hydraulic vehicle access gate (SS-28 ) 
Jersey barriers at base of monument (SS-29) 
Handrail at Monument Lodge (SS-30) 
Pedestal telephones (SS-31) 
Picnic tables (SS-33) 
Bike racks (SS-34) 
Concrete and wood slat backless benches (SS-

8) 
Post and chain fencing (SS-24) 
Trash receptacles (SS-35) 

VIEWS AND VISTAS 

The intended views of the Washington Monument from the city and the vistas looking outward 
from the monument have been faithfully maintained through time. The monument is a dominant 
presence from any vantage point in the city, and the views between the monument and the White 
House, the Capitol, the Lincoln Memorial, and the Jefferson Memorial are as dramatic today as 
they were when the structures and memorials were first completed. Some of the views have been 
impacted by maturing trees, such as those along 14th Street that partially block views between the 
U.S. Capitol and the monument, although these do not particularly detract from the overall view. 

L’Enfant’s Vision 

L’Enfant’s proposed site for a monument honoring Washington assumed open vistas between the 
monument and the U.S. Capitol to the east and the monument and the White House to the north. 
Although the present monument does not sit on the exact point of intersection for the cross-axes 
of these two buildings, views towards the east and north remain unobstructed (figures 3-10, 3-23, 
and 3-69). 

The Axial Plan 

The completion of the Lincoln Memorial in 1921 and Reflecting Pool in 1924 added the western 
focal point for the axial plan envisioned by the McMillan Commission. Construction of the 
Jefferson Memorial, begun in 1938 and completed in 1943, completed the cross-axial plan. 
Presumably these two memorials could be viewed from the monument grounds and the 
monument could be viewed from them when completed. The view remains open between the 
Lincoln Memorial and the Washington Monument, but it is difficult to see the Jefferson 
Memorial from the monument grounds, except from the top of the obelisk (figure 3-67).  
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Summary: View and Vista Features 

Contributing Features Non-Contributing Features 
Views from D.C. and region to monument (V-

1) 
Views from the top of the monument to the 

surrounding city and important sites (V-2) 
Views from the site to the Lincoln Memorial, 

White House, Jefferson Memorial, and 
U.S. Capitol (V-3) 

Vistas of the monument from the Lincoln 
Memorial, White House, Jefferson 
Memorial, and U.S. Capitol (V-4) 

Screened views of site features (V-5) 
Axial views through Jefferson Pier of the 

White House and Jefferson Memorial (V-6) 

 

COMPARATIVE PHOTOGRAPHS 

The following pages illustrate change over time on the monument grounds through a series of 
photographic comparisons between historic and existing views (figures 4-9 through 4-22). 
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                       Figure 4-1. 1937 site plan for Boy Scout Jamboree.
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              Figure 4-2. 1888 diagram showing construction buildings . 
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   Figure 4-3. 1870s photograph of partial monument.  
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Figure 4-4. Section comparing sub-layers of fill within Washington Monument mound. 
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   Figure 4-5. 1943 plan showing temporary buildings and parking lot at the 16th Street alignment. 
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                   Figure 4-6. 1884 view of Washington, D.C., by Adolf Sachse, detail.  
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                       Figure 4-7. Site plan of existing conditions showing tennis courts, ca. 1917.
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Figure 4-8. 1870s plan showing unimplemented plan for grounds, with
Babcock Lake.  
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Figure 4-9a. (Evening Star May 1945 WHS 1821) 1945 view of Jef ferson Pier. This looks toward the monument
with the Capitol in the background. Note path and fencing, cars parked around the monument.

SO
U

R
C

E:
 E

V
EN

IN
G

ST
A

R
, M

AY
19

45
, P

H
O

TO
B

Y
G

EN
E

A
B

B
O

TT
, W

H
S 

18
21



WA S H I N G T O N MO N U M E N T GR O U N D S * WA S H I N G T O N, D.C.  * CU L T U R A L LA N D S C A P E RE P O R T

                                       * CO M P A R A T I V E PH O T O G R A P H S *

SO
U

R
C

E:
 J

O
H

N
M

IL
N

ER
A

SS
O

C
IA

TE
S,

 IN
C

. 2
00

3

   Figure 4-9b. (H-14) 2003 view of same.
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Figure 4-10a. 1926 view of Monument Lodge.
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             Figure 4-10b. (H-2) 2003 view of same.
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Figure 4-22b. (H-3) 2003 view of the same.
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